## RECEIVED 07-30-2015

07-30-202

## STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appellate Case No. 2015AP000586-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

JOSEPH C. RISSE,

Defendant-Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND SENTENCE, ENTERED IN BROWN COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT CASE NO. 13CT1592, THE HONORABLE MARC A. HAMMER PRESIDING

## PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT'S BRIEF

SARAH E. BELAIR Assistant District Attorney State Bar No. 1059051

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant

Brown County District Attorney's Office Post Office Box 23600 Green Bay, WI 54305-3600 (920) 448-4190 sarah.belair@da.wi.gov

## **

#### **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

Whether the circuit court erred when it failed to comply with acceptable legal standards and admitted Risse's uncertified, unauthenticated, and inadmissible records to rebut the State's proof of Risse's prior Operating While Intoxicated-related conviction?

Whether the circuit court erred when it found that Risse's proffered records rebutted the State's evidence of a Wisconsin Certified Driving Record reflecting a 2008 Implied Consent conviction in Connecticut and found Risse guilty of Operating While Intoxicated as a first offense?

#### **STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION**

The State of Wisconsin does not request oral argument because the issues presented are fully briefed. The State of Wisconsin does not request publication because the issues are addressed by existing case law.

#### STATEMENT OF CASE

On October 13, 2013, the State filed a criminal complaint charging the Defendant-Respondent, Joseph C. Risse, with Operating While Intoxicated ("OWI") as a second offense, Operating with a Prohibited Alcohol Concentration ("PAC") as a second offense, and Endangering Safety by Use of a Dangerous Weapon – Possession of a Firearm While Intoxicated for an offense that occurred on August 28, 2013. App., p. 50-53. In the criminal complaint, the State initially alleged that Risse had been convicted of OWI in 2006, App., p. 53; however, the State later filed an amended complaint alleging that he had been convicted of OWI in the State of Connecticut on April 10, 2008, with an offense date of March 11, 2008, and was suspended as a result thereof, App., p. 54-56. The matter proceeded to a court trial on December 10, 2014, at which time the court heard testimony from multiple witnesses and granted a continuance to continue the trial on another date. App., p. 70-74. However, at the balance of the court trial on February 4, 2015, Risse ultimately entered a plea to the OWI pursuant to a plea agreement that left the number of prior convictions for the Court, the Honorable Marc A. Hammer, to determine. App., p. 6-9. The PAC charge was dismissed, and the Endangering Safety charge was dismissed but read in. App., p. 14. (2/4/15 TR. P. 3)

At the February 4, 2015, hearing, the State entered Risse's Wisconsin Certified Driving Record ("CDR"), which reflected an April 10, 2008, conviction in Connecticut for an Implied Consent violation as proof of his prior conviction. App., p. 16, 57-59. The offense date of the Implied Consent conviction was March 11, 2008, and the Non UTC and Court Report ID was 08002132. App., p. 59. Risse submitted the following documents and argued that they demonstrated that Risse had no prior convictions, App., p. 19-33:

- 1. A State of Connecticut Department of Motor Vehicles Response dated June 20, 2014, App., p. 19-23;
- 2. A State of Connecticut Judicial Branch Criminal/Motor Vehicle Convictions Name Summary online printout dated July 31, 2014; App., p. 19-23;

- 3. A State of Connecticut Judicial Branch Criminal/Motor Vehicle Convictions– Search By Docket Number online printout dated July 30, 2014; App., p. 19-23;
- 4. A State of Connecticut Record Center Superior Court letter dated September 13, 2013, App., p. 2;.
- 5. A National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (NHTSA) letter dated October 28, 2014, and NHTSA mission statement online printout dated December 9, 2014, App., p. 28, and
- 6. A Michigan Department of State Bureau of Branch Office Services Request Report dated January 7, 2015, App., p. 29.

During oral arguments, the State articulated<sup>2</sup> the reasons why Risse's documents failed to rebut the conviction in the CDR. App., p. 33-37. However, after excluding the Michigan Report, Judge Hammer found that the remaining documents "create[d] a question" as to whether the 2008 Implied Consent conviction should be counted as a prior offense. App., 39. He ultimately concluded that he could not find "beyond a reasonable doubt that this is an OWI second," App., 41, and sentenced Risse based on an OWI first offense conviction, App., p. 48-49. It is from this determination that the State appeals.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The State also incorporated by reference the arguments contained in its State's Brief Opposing Defendant's Motion to Dismiss, filed on September 29, 2014. App., 75-78

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

On August 28, 2013, at approximately 1:44 a.m., officers from the Green Bay Police Department responded to the Manorcare parking lot to check the welfare of a man who appeared to be sleeping in a parked truck that was running for approximately one hour. App., p. 52. Officers arrived on scene and located a male who appeared to be asleep in the front driver's seat of the truck. Id. Officers identified the male as the defendant, Joseph C. Risse, d.o.b. 12/13/1982. Id. After officers woke Risse, Officer Dunn spoke with Risse and noticed that Risse's eyes were very red and bloodshot, his speech was slurred, and that he had a strong odor of intoxicants coming from his mouth. Id. Risse failed the field sobriety tests and was arrested based upon Officer Dunn's belief that Risse was under the influence of intoxicants. Id. Officer Dunn read Risse the "Informing the Accused" and asked Risse to submit to an evidentiary blood test. App., p. 53. Risse refused to consent to the blood test, so Officer Dunn obtained a search warrant and the blood draw was completed. Id. The Wisconsin State Laboratory of Hygiene, Medical Toxicology Section analyzed the blood and reported that Risse's blood alcohol concentration was .146%. App., p. *Id*.

#### ARGUMENT

## I. A WISCONSIN CERTIFIED DRIVING RECORD IS ADMISSIBLE AND SUFFICIENT TO PROVE OUT-OF-STATE PRIOR OWI-RELATED CONVICTIONS BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT.

To prove prior convictions for purposes of enhancing an OWI

offense, the State may prove any of the following beyond a reasonable doubt and by competent proof, *State v. Van Riper*, 267 Wis. 2d 759, 672 N.W.2d 156, ¶¶ 13, 21 (Ct. App. 2003):

- 1. Prior OWI convictions, Wis. Stat. § 343.307(1)(a) (2013-14);
- 2. Prior tribal convictions conforming with Wisconsin OWI laws, Wis. Stat. §343.307(1)(b) (2013-14);
- Prior OWI Causing Injury, Injury by Intoxicated Use of a Vehicle, or Homicide by Intoxicated Use of a Motor Vehicle convictions, Wis. Stat. §343.307(1)(c) (2013-14);
- 4. Prior refusal of chemical testing convictions ("refusals") from any other jurisdiction, Wis. Stat. § 343.307(1)(d) (2013-14);
- 5. Prior operating privilege suspensions or revocations due to chemical testing refusals from any other jurisdiction, Wis. Stat. § 343.307(1)(e) (2013-14);

- 6. Prior court-ordered revocations on refusals pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 343.305(10), Wis. Stat. § 343.307(1)(f) (2013-14); and
- 7. Prior reckless flying convictions, Wis. Stat. § 343.307(1)(g) (2013-14).

Significantly, each provision is a separate and distinct basis for counting<sup>3</sup> prior offenses for the purposes of enhancing an OWI conviction. *See State v. Carter*, 2010 WI 132, ¶¶ 21-22, 27-28, 330 Wis. 2d 1, ¶¶ 21-22, 27-28, 794 N.W.2d 213, ¶¶ 21-22, 27-28. Furthermore, a certified driving record is admissible to prove the prior convictions beyond a reasonable doubt. *Van Riper*, 267 Wis. 2d at ¶ 2, 672 N.W.2d. at ¶ 2. The Wisconsin CDR is also sufficient to prove an out-of-state prior OWI-related conviction beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id.* at ¶¶ 19-20. Once the State has established the prior conviction with the CDR, the defendant bears the burden of proving that the record is incorrect. *See State v. Devries*, 2011 WI App 78, ¶ 9, 334 Wis. 2d 430, ¶ 9, 801 N.W.2d 336, ¶ 9.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED WHEN IT CONSIDERED RISSE'S UNCERTIFIED, UNAUTHENTICATED, INADMISSIBLE RECORDS TO REBUT THE STATE'S PROOF OF RISSE'S PRIOR OWI-RELATED CONVICTION BECAUSE THE

 $<sup>^{3}</sup>$  This is true unless the suspension, revocation, or conviction resulted from the same incident or occurrence, in which, it is counted as one. Wis. Stat. 343.65(2)(am).

# DECISION DID NOT COMPLY WITH ACCEPTABLE LEGAL STANDARDS.

Appellate courts will "not overturn a circuit court's findings of fact unless they are 'clearly erroneous.'" *Id.* at  $\P$  2. Additionally, while appellate courts generally uphold a circuit judge's evidentiary ruling as a discretionary decision, the appellate courts may reverse an evidentiary ruling when it was not made pursuant to accepted legal standards and the facts of the case. See Van Riper, 2003 WI App at ¶ 8, 267 Wis. 2d at ¶ 8, 672 N.W.2d at ¶ 8 (*quoting State v*. Pharr, 115 Wis. 2d 334, 342, 340 N.W.2d 498, 501 (1983) (citations omitted)) ("a trial court's evidentiary ruling will not be upset on appeal if the court had a 'reasonable basis' and it was made 'in accordance with accepted legal standards and in accordance with the facts of record"). Consequently, an evidentiary ruling that does not comply with accepted legal standards or the facts may be reversed. See id. Finally, appellate courts conduct a de novo, not deferential, review of "purely documentary" evidence. Devries, 2011 WI App at ¶ 2, 334 Wis. 2d at ¶ 2, 801 N.W.2d at ¶ 2.

The circuit court's decision to admit, over the State's objections, Risse's proffered records to rebut the CDR was clearly erroneous because it was not made according to accepted legal

standards. See Van Riper, 2003 WI App at ¶ 8, 267 Wis. 2d at ¶ 8, 672 N.W.2d at ¶ 8. The records are not self-authenticating and no foundation was laid for the records to authenticate the records. App. p. 18-33, 60-69. " '[A] record is authenticated by a certification which properly and sufficiently identifies the record to which it is attached....'" Van Riper, 2003 WI App at ¶ 17, 267 Wis. 2d at ¶ 17, 672 N.W.2d at ¶ 17, (quoting reference omitted) (finding that "a defendant's driving record is self-authenticating by virtue of a certificate attached to the record bearing the State of Wisconsin DOT seal and a signature of the Administrator of the Division of Motor Vehicles (DMV) attesting to the record's authenticity"). None of the documents contained any certificates to identify or authenticate the records or the information contained therein. App. p. 60-69. Furthermore, the defense failed to present any witnesses to testify to authenticate the documents. App., 18-33. Given that the records were not self-authenticating, extrinsic evidence was required as a condition precedent to admissibility.<sup>4</sup> Wis. Stats. §§ 909.01 and 909.02 (2013-14). As such, the records were inadmissible.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> "General provision. The requirements of authentication or identification as a condition precedent to admissibility are satisfied by evidence sufficient to support a finding that the matter in question is what its proponent claims." § 909.01.

Additionally, the Connecticut Judicial Branch online printouts App., 61-62, and the NHTSA letter and mission statement App., 64-66, are also inadmissible hearsay. Wis. Stat. § 908.02 (2013-14). They do not fall under the public records hearsay exception because they do not meet any of the three statutory criteria, (a) through (c), but, more significantly, the documents indicate a lack of trustworthiness<sup>5</sup>. Wis. Stat. § 908.03(8) (2013-14).

Risse argued that *State v. Bonds*, 2006 WI 83, 292 Wis. 2d 344, 717 N.W.2d 133, permitted the circuit court to consider the Connecticut online judicial records to determine the existence of Risse's prior conviction, App., p. 22-23; however, *Bonds* clearly

<sup>&</sup>quot;Self-authentication. Extrinsic evidence of authenticity as a condition precedent to admissibility is not required with respect to any of the following:..."

<sup>&</sup>quot;(4) Certified copies of public records. A copy of an official record or report or entry therein, or of a document authorized by law to be recorded or filed and actually recorded or filed in a public office, including data compilations in any form, certified as correct by the custodian or other person authorized to make the certification, by certificate complying with sub. (1), (2) or (3) or complying with any statute or rule adopted by the supreme court, or, with respect to records maintained by the department of transportation under s. 110.20 or chs. 194, 218, 341 to 343, 345, or 348, certified electronically in any manner determined by the department of transportation to conform with the requirements of s. 909.01." § 909.02.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> "PUBLIC RECORDS AND REPORTS. Records, reports, statements, or data compilations, in any form, of public offices or agencies, setting forth (a) the activities of the office or agency, or (b) matters observed pursuant to duty imposed by law, or (c) in civil cases and against the state in criminal cases, factual findings resulting from an investigation made pursuant to authority granted by law, *unless the sources of information or other circumstances indicate lack of trustworthiness.*" § 908.03(8) (emphasis added).

held that a Wisconsin Consolidated Court Automation Programs ("CCAP") record is "insufficient to establish prima facie proof" of a prior conviction. *Bonds*, 2006 WI at ¶ 47, 292 Wis. 2d at ¶ 47, 717 N.W.2d at ¶ 47.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court explicitly reasoned that the disclaimer<sup>6</sup> on a CCAP report "by its own terms" demonstrates that the report "is of questionable accuracy." *Id.* at ¶ 46. Moreover, the disclaimer demonstrates that the online record is not the official court record and that the clerks of court maintain the official court records. *Id.* The Wisconsin Supreme Court distinguished CCAP records from uncertified judgments of conviction because "CCAP reports do not purport to be identical to the court records" and the disclaimer "specifically warns that CCAP provides no warranty of accuracy" for the information. *Id.* at ¶ 49.

Consequently, it was erroneous to consider the State of Connecticut Criminal/Motor Vehicle Convictions – Search by Docket Number online printout in determining the existence of Risse's prior conviction because, like CCAP, the Connecticut online

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> "Policy on Disclosure of Public Information Over the Internet"... "Because information in the CCAP database changes constantly, WCCA is not responsible for subsequent entries that update, modify, correct or delete data. WCCA is not responsible for notifying prior requesters of updates, modifications, corrections or deletions." *Bonds*, 2006 WI at ¶ 46, 292 Wis. 2d at ¶ 46, 717 N.W.2d at ¶ 46.

court records have a disclaimer. The Connecticut online court record's disclaimer "by its own terms" demonstrates that the report is of "questionable accuracy," *see id.* at  $\P$  4,:

This criminal history information may change daily due to erasures, corrections, pardons, and other modifications to individual criminal history record Information. The Judicial Branch cannot guarantee the accuracy of the information except with respect to this date.

App., p. 62. Even though the Connecticut Judicial Branch name search record did not contain the disclaimer, App. p. 61, it is clearly from the same website to which the disclaimer applies.

The NHTSA records were similarly inadmissible because they also contain a disclaimer questioning their accuracy: "Although States use the NDR as part of their driver licensing process, it is the responsibility of the States to maintain the accuracy of the data submitted to the NDR," App., p. 64, and "[s]ince the NDR contains only identification information, you would need to contact the department of motor vehicles for the states listed below to obtain the specific details relating to these records." App., p. 65. Moreover, the NHTSA records do not even purport to pertain definitively to the subject of the name search: "We have searched the NDR database and found one record that <u>may</u> pertain to you." App., p. 64, (emphasis added). Each disclaimer "indicates lack of а

trustworthiness" rendering the records inadmissible pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 908.03(8).

Thus, the circuit court erred when it considered unauthenticated records and hearsay records because considering inadmissible records is not in accord with accepted legal standards. *See Van Riper*, 2003 WI App at ¶ 8, 267 Wis. 2d at ¶ 8, 672 N.W.2d at ¶ 8.

III. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED WHEN IT FOUND THAT **RISSE'S** PROFFERED **RECORDS REBUTTED THE STATE'S** PROOF OF **RISSE'S** PRIOR **OWI-RELATED CONVICTION BECAUSE THE** WAS DECISION NOT MADE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE FACTS AND WAS. THEREFORE, **CLEARLY ERRONEOUS.** 

The circuit court erred when it found that Risse's proffered records rebutted the State's proof of the prior 2008 Implied Consent conviction because the decision lacks a "reasonable basis" and was not made "in accordance with the facts of record." *See id.* Pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 343.305 (2013-14), the implied consent statute, failing to comply with a chemical test of one's blood constitutes a refusal. *State v. Reitter*, 227 Wis. 2d 213, ¶ 36, 595 N.W.2d 646, ¶ 36 (1999). Risse's 2008 Connecticut Implied Consent conviction in

his CDR is, therefore, a refusal that is countable as a prior conviction for the purpose of enhancing Risse's present OWI pursuant to 343.307(1)(d).

Despite the admissibility issues, even if the Court were to consider the Connecticut DMV Response, App., p. 60, and the Connecticut Record Center Superior Court letter, App., p. 63, the documents nonetheless fail to rebut the State's proof demonstrating a prior countable offense because they do not demonstrate that the Connecticut conviction was erroneously reported to Wisconsin and because they refer to a separate and distinct offense.

The Connecticut DMV Request states that "[n]o information is found on record for the above case" in the court or DMV records and refers to docket number M09M-MV08-0432892. App., p. 60. The Connecticut Superior Court letter also refers to docket number M09M-MV08-432892-S and reflects a disposition date of March 27, 2009. App., p. 63. The letter further states that the file was destroyed pursuant to local practice. *Id.* These records simply indicate that the Connecticut agencies no longer maintain the record of the occurrence. The inability to locate a physical file does not demonstrate that there was a reporting error. These records demonstrate only that Connecticut destroyed its records of the offense described; they do not demonstrate that the Wisconsin CDR is incorrect. Accordingly, Risse failed to rebut the State's proof of the 2008 Implied Consent conviction. *See Devries*, 2011 WI App at  $\P$  9, 334 Wis. 2d at  $\P$  9, 801 N.W.2d at  $\P$  9.

Moreover, the contents of the records clearly reflect that they pertain to a different offense, not the 2008 Implied Consent offense/conviction. The CDR reflects a March 11, 2008, violation, an April 10, 2008, conviction, and a Non UTC/Court Report ID of 08002132. App., 59. In comparison, the Superior Court letter refers to a disposition date of March 27, 2009, with a different docket number. The fact that the Connecticut documents refer to a case with a disposition date almost a year after the 2008 Implied Consent conviction demonstrates that the records have no bearing on the validity or accuracy of the Implied Consent conviction in the Wisconsin CDR. Consequently, the circuit court's ruling did not accord with the facts - documents that on their face refer to a different offense cannot reasonably be relied upon to rebut the CDR's 2008 Implied Consent conviction or demonstrate that the CDR is incorrect. Consequently, the circuit court's finding to the

contrary was clearly erroneous as it lacked a "reasonable basis" and was not made "in accordance with the facts of record." *See Van Riper*, 2003 WI App at  $\P$  8, 267 Wis. 2d at  $\P$  8, 672 N.W.2d at  $\P$  8.

#### **CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests that the Court reverse the circuit court's finding convicting Risse of a first offense OWI and remand for entry of an amended judgment reflecting a second offense conviction.