STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III

RECEIVED

08-28-2015

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

APPEAL NO. 2015AP000586 CR CIRCUIT COURT CASE NO. 2013CT001592

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

JOSEPH C. RISSE,

Defendant-Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND SENTENCE, ENTERED IN BROWN COUNTY, THE HONORABLE MARC A. HAMMER PRESIDING

DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

RANDALL W. PETROUSKE II Everson, Whitney, Everson & Brehm, S.C. Attorneys for the Defendant-Respondent State Bar No. 1081355 414 S. Jefferson St. P.O. Box 22248 Green Bay, WI 54305-2248 Phone: (920) 435-3734 Fax: (920) 435-0126 rpetrouske@eversonlaw.com

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT CONSIDERED DOCUMENTS FROM THE STATE OF CONNECTICUT AND THE US DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION REBUTTING THE WISCONSIN CDR.

A. The rules of evidence do not apply at sentencing and the court can consider a broad spectrum of information in determining an appropriate sentence.

The trial court properly considered documents submitted by Risse to rebut the State's assertion that he had a prior countable OWI-related offense because the court can consider virtually any information at sentencing that it finds will help it reach the appropriate penalty. The Wisconsin Supreme Court has held that "[n]ot only is all relevant information to be brought to the attention of the sentencing judge, but considerable latitude is to be permitted trial judges in obtaining and considering all information that might aid in forming an intelligent and informed judgment as to the proper penalty to be imposed." Neely v. State, 47 Wis. 2d 330, 334-35, 177 N.W.2d 79, 82 (1970) (overruled on other grounds in part¹ by *Stockwell v. State*, 59 Wis. 2d 21, 207 N.W.2d 883 (1973)). This is true to such an extent that the rules of evidence are statutorily inapplicable at sentencing. Wis. Stat. § 911.01(4)(c). As noted by the defense during the sentencing hearing, despite any technical evidentiary considerations, sentencing is a gathering of information to "get to the truth" of the matter and craft the appropriate penalty. (Pl. Appellant's App. p. 33).

It is undisputed that the documents considered by the court were introduced by Risse at sentencing and likewise clear that the documents were information that could inform the trial court's decision on the appropriate penalty. The sole question

¹ Neely involved the admission of juvenile delinquency proceedings that predated a decision from the Supreme Court of the United States determining that juvenile's right to counsel at a delinquency proceeding is as crucial as an adult's in a criminal case. *Stockwell* overturned *Neely* to that extent. *See Stockwell*, 59 Wis. 2d at 32-33, 207 N.W.2d at 889.

disputed by the parties at sentencing was whether an OWI-related conviction had occurred in the year 2008 in the State of Connecticut subjecting the defendant the increased penalty calculation under Wis. Stat. sec. 346.65(2). The State had alleged in its amended complaint that Risse had an OWI offense; and at sentencing that he instead had an Implied Consent violation from 2008 in Connecticut.

To support this claim, the State provided Risse's Wisconsin CDR. There is no question that the court can consider this document at sentencing. See, e.g. State v. Spaeth, 206 Wis. 2d 135, 556 N.W.2d 728 (1996) (regarding proof related to prior OAR convictions); State v. Van Riper, 2003 WI App 237, ¶ 16, 267 Wis. 2d 759, 767, 672 N.W.2d 156, 160 (the State may utilize CDR to demonstrate prior OWI convictions). Notably, neither court required that the evidence submitted be restricted to a certified copy of the CDR. In *Spaeth*, the Supreme Court noted that evidence of prior convictions could be proven by copies of judgments of conviction, admissions by the defendant at sentencing or mere teletypes of the defendant's record. 206 Wis. 2d at 153, 556 N.W.2d at 735. The Van Riper court seemed to take an even more broad view, allowing for proof by offenses by "appropriate official records or other competent proof." 2003 WI App 237 at ¶ 11, 267 Wis. 2d at 766, 672 N.W.2d at 159 (citing State v. Wideman, 206 Wis. 2d 91, 108, 556 N.W.2d 737, 745 (1996)).

Courts are careful to note, however, that the defendant is free to dispute the State's claims. *See, e.g., Wideman,* 206 Wis. 2d at 108, 556 N.W.2d at 745 ("Defense counsel should be prepared at sentencing to put the State to its proof when

the state's allegations of prior offenses are incorrect or defense counsel cannot verify the existence of the prior offenses."); *State v. McAllister*, 107 Wis. 2d 532, 539, 319 N.W.2d 865, 869 (1982) ("The defendant does have an opportunity to challenge the existence of the previous penalty-enhancing convictions before the judge prior to sentencing.") In order to effectively challenge the State's assertion, a defendant should certainly be permitted submit documents similar to those permissible for the State.

The documents submitted by Risse and considered by the court are similar in nature to documents routinely considered by courts at sentencing. The CJB website information is an official compilation of criminal and motor vehicle conviction, similar to Wisconsin's CDR. The two remaining items, the Connecticut Department of Motor Vehicle record document and the NHTSA paperwork are clearly, on their face, official government records and are likewise appropriate for consideration at sentencing. (*See* Pl. Appellant's App. p. 60, 64-66.) They are collectively and individually "appropriate official records or other competent proof" of Risse's record or—more accurately—lack thereof. *See Van Riper*, 2003 WI App 237 at ¶ 11, 267 Wis. 2d at 766, 672 N.W.2d at 159. Allowing the State, but not a defendant, to proffer such evidence would certainly offend traditional notions of justice and fair play. Accordingly, they were properly considered by the trial court at sentencing.

B. Even if the rules of evidence were applied, the documents were self-authenticating and therefore admissible.

Risse's documents are admissible under the rules of evidence because they were self-authenticating. A circuit court's "findings of historical or evidentiary facts" will not be overturned unless they are clearly erroneous. *State v. Chamblis*, 2015 WI 53, ¶ 21, 362 Wis. 2d 370, 383, 864 N.W.2d 806, 812 (citing *State v. Bollig*, 2000 WI 6, ¶¶ 13, 232 Wis.2d 561, 605 N.W.2d 199.). The trial court heard arguments on the admissibility of four documents submitted by Risse at the sentencing hearing and excluded one, while considering the others. Disregarding the document excluded by the court, the remaining documents were admissible under the rules of evidence.

The Connecticut Department of Motor Vehicle record document and the NHTSA paperwork are admissible public documents under seal pursuant to Wis. Stat. sec. 909.02(1). Public documents produced under seal are self-authenticating and:

[e]xtrinsic evidence of authenticity as a condition precedent to admissibility is not required with respect to any of the following: (1) Public documents under seal. A document bearing a seal purporting to be that of the United States, or of any state . . . or of a political subdivision, department, officer or agency thereof, and a signature purporting to be an attestation or execution.

Wis. Stat. § 909.02(1). The NHTSA letter bears the seal of the U.S. Department of Transportation in the upper left corner and a signature on the second page. (Pl. Appellant's App. p. 64-65.) Likewise, State of Connecticut Department of Motor Vehicles document bears its seal on the upper left hand corner and a signature at the bottom. *Id.* at 60. While it is true that the Wisconsin CDR requires a separate signed

certification to be introduced as evidence, the document itself bears no authenticating signature. *See id.* at 58-59. This is easily distinguishable from the Risse documents accepted by the court, which bear not only a seal but an authenticating signature. The court did not err when admitting these documents even if the rules of evidence applied, because they were admissible as documents under seal.

Assuming, without conceding, that the CJB website is a direct analog to CCAP, that doesn't render the document inadmissible at sentencing. The State contends that *State v. Bonds*, 2006 WI 83, 292 Wis. 2d 344, 717 N.W.2d 133, stands for the proposition that a court may not consider CCAP records when determining prior convictions. Pl. Appellant's Br. p. 10-12. However the holding in *Bonds* was more nuanced that, instead finding that "by relying *solely on the CCAP report, and without other evidence* that could prove [a defendant's] repeater status beyond a reasonable doubt, the State did not offer sufficient evidence to constitute prima facie proof[.]" 2006 WI 83 at ¶ 49, 292 Wis. 2d 344 at 376, 717 N.W.2d 133 at 150 (emphasis added). The clear implication of *Bonds* is that while CCAP may not be sufficient, standing alone, to carry the burden of proof that a defendant has a prior conviction sufficient to satisfy a repeater allegation, the document itself was admissible.

In any case, the CJB website is distinguishable from the Wisconsin's CCAP system because the disclaimer on the CJB website is distinguishable from the disclaimer on the CCAP website which, on its face, dismisses the notion that it is

the official record.² By contrast the CJB website specifically indicates that "Each criminal and motor vehicle charge which resulted in a conviction within the past 10 years *is shown*" (the State alleges Risse's Connecticut conviction occurred in 2008, well within that ten (10) year period). *State of Connecticut Judicial Branch Criminal/Motor Vehicle Case Look Up*, http://www.jud.ct.gov/crim.htm (emphasis added). No claim is made by the CJB website that it is not the official record and no reference is made to some other location or entity as being the official record. *See id.*

Finally, although the trial court did not articulate a specific reason for admitting the CJB website information, Wis. Stat. sec. 908.02(24) grants the court the authority to admit the evidence so long as it has "circumstantial guarantees of trustworthiness." The CJB website, on its face, has such circumstantial guarantees of trustworthiness, indicating that "[e]ach criminal and motor vehicle charge which resulted conviction within 10 is shown[.]" in a the past years

² "The data available on the WCCA website is limited in the following ways: 1. Case information is uploaded to the WCCA website hourly unless periodic maintenance is being performed or the site is experiencing technical problems. The WCCA website information is accurate as of those updates. The WCCA program may be down for maintenance every night from 3:00 a.m. to 4:00 a.m. Central Time. 2. Each county began using the circuit court case management system at different times and made independent decisions about the conversion or backloading of old cases. Converted cases may display less information. 3. Records not open to public inspection are not displayed on the WCCA website. Confidential court records include adoptions, juvenile delinquency, child protection, termination of parental rights, guardianship, and civil commitments. 4. The official judgment and lien docket is located in the office of the clerk of circuit court for each county. Although *WCCA is not the official judgment and lien docket*, it does accurately reflect the information entered into the circuit court case management system for that purpose." http://wcca.wicourts.gov/index.xsl (last visited August 23, 2015) (Emphasis added).

http://www.jud.ct.gov/crim.htm. Before determining whether it would be considered, the trial court not only reviewed the print out of the website, but also conducted an extensive direct examination of the website with counsel. The CJB website information was admissible to help rebut the State's claim that Risse had a prior offense in Connecticut.

The three documents relied upon by the trial court to rebut the State's claim that Risse had a prior countable OWI-related offense are admissible because the trial court has broad discretion on what information to consider at sentencing and the rules of evidence do not apply. But, even if the rules of evidence did apply, the documents are admissible under the applicable Wisconsin rules of evidence.

II. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY FOUND THAT THE DEFENSE HAD REBUTTED THE STATE'S ASSERTION THAT THE DEFENDANT HAD A PRIOR COUNTABLE CONVICTION UNDER §343.307 AND THAT THE STATE HAD THEREFORE HAD FAILED TO MEET ITS BURDEN OF PROOF.

The trial court's finding that the State had failed in its burden to prove a no prior countable conviction for Risse was supported by the evidence and should not be disturbed. An appellate court "will not upset the circuit court's findings of historical or evidentiary facts unless they are clearly erroneous." *Chamblis*, 2015 WI 53 at ¶ 21, 362 Wis. 2d at 383, 864 N.W.2d at 812 (citing *State v. Bollig*, 2000 WI 6, ¶¶ 13, 232 Wis.2d 561, 605 N.W.2d 199.). It is well established law that in order for a trial court's finding of facts to be clearly erroneous, they must "contrary to the great weight and clear preponderance of the evidence." *State v. Woods*, 117 Wis. 2d 701, 715, 345 N.W.2d 457, 465 (1984) (citing *State v. Mazur*, 90 Wis.2d 293, 309, 280 N.W.2d 194 (1979)). The existence of a prior conviction for purposes

of determining the penalty level for an OWI is Wisconsin must be "proven to the satisfaction of the judge[.]" *McAllister*, 107 Wis. 2d at 539, 319 N.W.2d at 869.

While it is true that, in the absence of other evidence, the State may rely solely upon the CDR for proof of a prior countable OWI-related offense, the CDR merely creates a rebuttable presumption that the prior offense exists. *See id.* The State relies primarily on *Van Riper* and *State v. Devries*, 2011 WI App 78, 334 Wis. 2d 430, 801 N.W.2d 336, to argue that the trial court was clearly erroneous in finding that the State had failed to meet its burden. Reliance on both cases is misplaced.

The defendants in *Van Riper* and *Devreis* did not provide evidence to rebut the State's CDR information, but Risse did. In *Van Riper*, there is no indication that the defendant presented any evidence to rebut the State's claim that he had prior convictions, but rather he alleged that the CDR was "inadmissible evidence" and it was "insufficient to establish his repeater status . . . beyond a reasonable doubt." 2003 WI App 237 at ¶ 1, 267 Wis. 2d at 761, 672 N.W.2d at 157. In *Devreis*, the defendant was found to have prior OWI-related countable offenses based upon non-appearances in out-of-State drunk driving charges for which she was arrested, but never appeared in court. 2011 WI App 78, 334 Wis. 2d 430, 801 N.W.2d 336. Her unsuccessful challenge was in relevant part based not upon the existence of the prior incidents (her trial counsel conceded that at least one of the events occurred), but rather on whether they constituted a conviction. *Devries*, 2011 WI App 78, ¶ 8, 334 Wis. 2d at 440, 801 N.W.2d at 340. Neither case is directly analogous nor controlling to the case at bar.

Risse specifically challenged the existence of the alleged Connecticut conviction, not the admissibility or sufficiency of the CDR, and he presented

competent evidence sufficient to persuade the trial court that the State had failed to meet its burden of proof. This evidence came from several independent different agencies, each of which tasked with maintaining records for convictions, including OWI-related offenses. After considering the one piece of evidence presented by the State, namely the CDR, cutting in favor of the existence of an OWI-related conviction and the three pieces presented by Risse, the CJB website information, the Connecticut Department of Motor Vehicle record and the NHTSA form collectively, cutting against the existence of an OWI-related offense, the trial court determined that the State failed to meet its burden of proof, in essence that the State has failed to prove the "prior conviction[] . . . to the satisfaction of the judge[.]" *McAllister*, 107 Wis. 2d 532 at 539, 319 N.W.2d at 869.

For the same reason that the *Van Riper* trial court's decision that the State had proven prior convictions was upheld, so the trial court's decision that the State hadn't proven them against Risse must be upheld: the judge had a reasonable basis to conclude as he did, his decision was made in accordance with accepted legal standards, and it was supported by the facts. *See Van Riper*, 2003 WI App 237 at ¶ 8, 267 Wis. 2d at 764, 672 N.W.2d at 158-59. Moreover, upon considering the evidence provided by both the State and Risse, the Court's conclusion was not "contrary to the great weight and clear preponderance of the evidence" and must be left undisturbed. *See Woods*, 117 Wis. 2d at 715, 345 N.W.2d at 465.

CONCLUSION

The trial court properly considered the documents Risse submitted at sentencing and properly found that the State had failed to prove a prior, countable OWI-related offense. The trial court's decision to admit documents at sentencing that aided in gathering information helpful in determining the proper penalty to be imposed was not clearly erroneous, rather it was in accordance with the appropriate action affirmatively required of the judge at sentencing. While the rules of evidence do not apply at a sentencing hearing, the self-authenticating and reliable documents were properly considered even if the rules of evidence had applied.

The trial court's determination that the State had failed to meet its burden of proof was not clearly erroneous because it was not contrary to the great weight and clear preponderance of the evidence. Rather, it was strongly supported by the information considered by the court. For these reasons, the defendant-respondent respectfully requests that this Court affirm the determinations of the trial court.